THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
NOV 17 2014

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

SC Court of Appeals

HONORABLE R. MARKLEY DENNIS, JR.
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

ORIGINAL

C.A. NO. 2013-CP10-00090
CT. APP. NO.: 2013-001682

ARTHUR PETER ROWE.....Appellant

vs.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Defendants' Motions To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint and the Appellant's Wife's Notice Of Intent To File Suit On Basis That Plaintiff Failed To Contemporaneously File An Affidavit Of An Expert Witness, And The Dismissal Of The Appellant's Action For Loss Of Consortium.
- B. The Trial Court Erred In In Granting Defendants' Motions To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint And The Appellant's Wife's Notice Of Intent To File Suit Due To The Failure To Apply The Exception To Contemporaneous Filing Of The Affidavit Of An Expert Witness Under Section 15-36-100(C)(1) Of The South Carolina Code Of Laws Of 1976, As Amended.
- C. The Trial Court Erred In That The Honorable Judge Markley Dennis Failed To Recuse Himself After His Law Clerk Received A Letter Dated May 22, 2013 From The Wife Of The Plaintiff/Appellant Disclosing Her Fears Of Receiving A Fair And Impartial Determination Due To A Prior Proceeding Before The Same Judge.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 7, 2013, the Appellant's wife, Beverly C. Moore Rowe, timely filed and served the Notice of Intent to File Suit at Case Number 2013-CP-10-00088, naming Defendants involved in a medical procedure performed on her as their patient, during her hospital stay that began with her hospital admission on January 7, 2010. As an Exhibit to the Notice of Intent to File Suit, the Plaintiff attached her Summons and Complaint in this action. [ROA, 9, Motion To Dismiss By Defendant, Charleston Surgery Center, Pages 80-100.]

On January 7, 2013, the Appellant timely filed and served the Summons and Complaint for loss of consortium based on the action filed by the Appellant's wife, Beverly C. Moore Rowe, at Case Number 2013-CP-10-00088, the Notice of Intent to File Suit, naming Defendants involved in a medical procedure performed on Appellant's wife as their patient, during her hospital stay that began with her hospital admission on January 7, 2010. As an Exhibit to the Notice of Intent to File Suit, the Appellant's wife attached her Summons and Complaint in this action. [ROA 3, Summons & Complaint. Pages 17-35.]

Due to the statutory deadline to commence her action in the Court of Common Pleas within the applicable three (3) years statute of limitations, which arguably would have expired on January 7, 2013, the Appellant's wife filed and served the Notice Of Intent to File Suit without filing contemporaneously therewith, an affidavit of an expert, due to the inability to obtain an Affidavit of an expert qualified to render an opinion in her Lawsuit within the applicable three (3) years statute of limitations. The Appellant's Wife relied upon the exception to filing a contemporaneous Affidavit set forth in S.C.

Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976). The Notice Of Intent To File Suit included the following paragraph:

“The Affidavit of the Expert Witness required under S.C. Code Section 15-79-125 is not being provided at this time pursuant to S.C. Code Section 15-36-100(C)(1). The Plaintiff is informed and believes that the applicable statute of limitations on one or more claims alleged in the Complaint, which is attached to this Notice Of Intent to File Suit as Exhibit A, will expire within ten (10) days of the date of the filing of the Complaint, and that due to time constraints, an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared. The Plaintiff is informed and believes that S.C. Code Section 15-36-100(C)(1) is applicable to enable the Plaintiff to supplement the pleadings with the required affidavit. [ROA, 9, Motion To Dismiss By Defendant, Charleston Surgery Center, Page 88.]

The Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss on the basis that the Appellant’s Wife failure to attach an expert’s affidavit to her Notice Of Intent to File Suit, warranting dismissal of her claim and the Appellant’s claims, despite the dismissal resulting in their actions being barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

On May 25, 2013, and prior to the Hearing on the Motions to Dismiss, the Appellant’s Wife mailed a letter to the Law Clerk of the Honorable Judge Markley Dennis expressing the Appellant’s Wife’s concerns that he was hearing the Motions in this matter, due to information given to her in an earlier legal proceeding, of which the Plaintiff in that action was also the Appellant’s Wife in the earlier action. The Appellant’s Wife expressed to the Honorable Judge Markley Dennis her concerns as to receiving a fair and impartial hearing, and anticipated that the Honorable Judge Markley Dennis would recuse himself. To the Appellant’s surprise, Judge Markley Dennis heard the Motions with no comment from the bench as to the Appellant’s Wife’s correspondence.

On May 31, 2013, the Honorable Judge Markley Dennis heard the arguments on the Motions to Dismiss in the Charleston County Courthouse. Upon motions made, the Honorable Judge Markley Dennis granted the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and the

Appellant has filed this Appeal. [ROA, 2 Order, Pages 5-16; ROA 16, Notice of Appeal, Pages 115-128.]

ARGUMENTS

A. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Defendants' Motions To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint And The Wife's Notice Of Intent To File Suit On Basis That Respondent's Wife Failed To Contemporaneously File An Affidavit Of An Expert Witness, And The Dismissal Of The Appellant's Action For Loss Of Consortium.

The Appellant respectfully asserts that the trial court erred in granting the Motions to Dismiss filed by the Defendants on the basis that the Appellant's Wife failed to attach an experts' affidavit to the Notice Of Intent to File Suit.

The Appellant's was admitted to the Hospital on January 7, 2010, and it was this hospitalization in which the medical procedures that are the subject of the Appellant's lawsuit occurred. One of the Appellant's wife's symptoms resulting from her medical procedure is a loss of her cognitive and memory brain activity which further delayed the Appellant's wife's own ability to become aware of her injuries from the medical procedure. Nevertheless, and despite diligent effort, the Appellant's wife and Appellant were not able to retain competent legal counsel to undertake representation in this matter.

The Appellant's Wife filed the Notice of Intent to File Suit pursuant to Section 15-79-125 of the South Carolina Code of Laws of 1976, as amended (hereinafter referred to herein as the "**Code**"). Code Section 15-79-125 provides as follows:

"(A) Prior to filing or initiating a civil action alleging injury or death as a result of medical malpractice, the plaintiff shall contemporaneously file a Notice of Intent to File Suit and an affidavit of an expert witness, subject to the affidavit requirements established in Section 15-36-100, in a county in which venue would be proper for filing or initiating the civil action. The notice must name all adverse parties as defendants, must contain a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the party filing the

notice is entitled to relief, must be signed by the plaintiff or by his attorney, and must include any standard interrogatories or similar disclosures required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Filing the Notice of Intent to File Suit tolls all applicable statutes of limitations. The Notice of Intent to File Suit must be served upon all named defendants in accordance with the service rules for a summons and complaint outlined in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.”¹

S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) specifically provides that “...*the plaintiff shall contemporaneously file a Notice of Intent to File Suit and an affidavit of an expert witness, subject to the affidavit requirements established in Section 15-36-100,..*”.² The language in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) specifically states that the affidavit is subject to the “affidavit requirements established in Code Section 15-36-100”, which indicates that S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) governs the affidavit requirements for the affidavit provided for under S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). A careful reading of S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) will reveal that it is silent as to any requirements as to the affidavit of an expert witness, including any definition of the phrase, “expert witness”. Accordingly one must rely exclusively upon S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) in order to comply in any way with the requirement of an Affidavit of an expert witness contained in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(A) (1976) provides the definition of who constitutes the definition of “expert witness”³. Paragraphs (B) and (C) of S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-

¹ S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

² S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

³ (A) As used in this section, “expert witness” means an expert who is qualified as to the acceptable conduct of the professional whose conduct is at issue and who:

(1) is licensed by an appropriate regulatory agency to practice his or her profession in the location in which the expert practices or teaches; and

(2)

(a) is board certified by a national or international association or academy which administers written and oral examinations for

100 (1976) address the actual affidavit requirements. S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B)

(1976) provides as follows:

“(B) Except as provided in Section 15-79-125, in an action for damages alleging professional negligence against a professional licensed by or registered with the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G) or against any licensed health care facility alleged to be liable based upon the action or inaction of a health care professional licensed by the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G), the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit.”⁴

Although S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976) begins, “Except as provided in Section 15-79-125”, S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976) provides nothing inconsistent to S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976). Accordingly, one must conclude that S.C. Code

certification in the area of practice or specialty about which the opinion on the standard of care is offered; or

(b) has actual professional knowledge and experience in the area of practice or specialty in which the opinion is to be given as the result of having been regularly engaged in:

(i) the active practice of the area of specialty of his or her profession for at least three of the last five years immediately preceding the opinion;

(ii) the teaching of the area of practice or specialty of his or her profession for at least half of his or her professional time as an employed member of the faculty of an educational institution which is accredited in the teaching of his or her profession for at least three of the last five years immediately preceding the opinion; or

(iii) any combination of the active practice or the teaching of his or her profession in a manner which meets the requirements of subitems (i) and (ii) for at least three of the last five years immediately preceding the opinion;

(3) is an individual not covered by subsections (A)(1) or (2), that has scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge which may assist the trier of fact in understanding the evidence and determining a fact or issue in the case, by reason of the individual’s study, experience, or both. However, an affidavit filed pursuant to subsection (B) by an expert qualified under this subsection must contain an explanation of the expert’s credentials and why the expert is qualified to conduct the review required by subsection (B). The defendant is entitled to challenge the sufficiency of the expert’s credentials pursuant to sub-section (E).

⁴ S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976).

Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976) controls as to the “Affidavit of an expert witness required in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) provides as follows:

“(1) The contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) does not apply to any case in which the period of limitation will expire, or there is a good faith basis to believe it will expire on a claim stated in the complaint, within ten days of the date of filing and, because of the time constraints, the plaintiff alleges that an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared. In such a case, the plaintiff has forty-five days after the filing of the complaint to supplement the pleadings with the affidavit. Upon motion, the trial court, after hearing and for good cause, may extend the time as the court determines justice requires. If an affidavit is not filed within the period specified in this subsection or as extended by the trial court and the defendant against whom an affidavit should have been filed alleges, by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading that the plaintiff has failed to file the requisite affidavit, the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim. The filing of a motion to dismiss pursuant to this section shall alter the period for filing an answer to the complaint in accordance with Rule 12(a), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.”⁵

S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) specifically provides an exception to the “contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) for the good faith belief that the applicable statute of limitations will expire within ten (1) days of the date of filing”⁶. Significantly, S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) provides the exception to the “contemporaneous filing requirement”, and uses the same choice of word (contemporaneously”) which is not found elsewhere in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976), but is found in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). Accordingly, by its specific language and terms, S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) provides the details not provided in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). One must read S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976) and S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) together to determine the person

⁵ S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976)

⁶ S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976)

qualified to provide the affidavit and the contents of the affidavit itself.⁷ The exception by specific reference to contemporaneous filing requirement provides must be a specific reference to the contemporaneous filing requirement set forth in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

The exception to the contemporaneous filing requirement of an affidavit of an expert witness set forth in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) must be intended to alleviate the hardship in the interests of justice when a party injured by professional negligence is not able to obtain the required Affidavit before the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations as is the case at hand.

A determination that S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) does not apply to the contemporaneous Affidavit requirement under S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) is not a reasonable interpretation when one recognizes that the Notice of The Intent to File Suit requirement of S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) is a prerequisite to the filing of the underlying lawsuit.

S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) provides prerequisites before a Plaintiff can file a lawsuit for professional medical malpractice in the Courts of South Carolina. If the applicable statute of limitations is about to expire in a medical malpractice claim, the Plaintiff must file the Notice of Intent to File Suit first which will toll the running of the statute of limitations during the time of complying with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976). A Plaintiff needs an Affidavit of an expert witness for the Notice of Right To File Suit before the Plaintiff files the underlying Lawsuit which also requires the expert witness affidavit⁸. The Plaintiff whose statute of limitations was

⁷ S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(A), (B) and (C) (1976).

⁸ Section 15-36-100(B) of the S.C. Code of Laws of 1976 as amended

about to expire would not require the protection of the exception provided at S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) for the underlying lawsuit if the Plaintiff had no such protection when the Plaintiff previously filed the Notice of the Right to File Suit with an Affidavit of the expert witness. The South Carolina Legislature must have intended for the Affidavit requirements of S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) to apply to S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976), or that language would not have been stated in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). A determination that S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) does not apply to the contemporaneous affidavit requirement of S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976), completely negates the benefit to the Plaintiff that that S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C) (1976) was intended to provide.

B. The Trial Court Erred In In Granting Defendants' Motions To Dismiss The Appellant's Complaint And The Appellant's Wife's Notice Of Intent To File Suit Due To The Failure To Apply The Exception To Contemporaneous Filing Of The Affidavit Of An Expert Witness Under S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976).

The Appellant respectfully directs the Court to the argument set forth at Paragraph A above. S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) specifically provides that “...*the plaintiff shall contemporaneously file a Notice of Intent to File Suit and an affidavit of an expert witness, subject to the affidavit requirements established in Section 15-36-100,...*”.⁹ The language in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) specifically states that the affidavit is subject to the “affidavit requirements established in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976)”, which indicates that S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) governs the

⁹ Section 15-79-125(A) of the S.C. Code of Laws of 1976, as amended.

affidavit requirements for the affidavit provided for under S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). A careful reading of S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976) reveals that it is silent as to any requirements as to the affidavit of an expert witness, including any definition of the phrase, “expert witness”. Accordingly one must rely exclusively upon S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) in order to discern the affidavit requirements and to comply in any way with the requirement of an Affidavit of an expert witness contained in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

Paragraphs (B) and (C) of S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) address the actual affidavit requirements. S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) provides as follows:

“(B) Except as provided in Section 15-79-125, in an action for damages alleging professional negligence against a professional licensed by or registered with the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G) or against any licensed health care facility alleged to be liable based upon the action or inaction of a health care professional licensed by the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G), the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit.”¹⁰

Although S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976) begins, “Except as provided in Section 15-79-125”, S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125 (1976) provides nothing inconsistent to S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976). Accordingly, S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976) controls as to the Affidavit of an expert witness required in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) provides as follows:

“(1) The contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) does not apply to any case in which the period of limitation will expire, or there is a good faith basis to believe it will expire on a claim stated in the complaint, within ten days of the date of filing and, because of the time constraints, the plaintiff alleges that

¹⁰ Section 15-36-100(B) of the S.C. Code of Laws of 1976, as amended.

an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared. In such a case, the plaintiff has forty-five days after the filing of the complaint to supplement the pleadings with the affidavit. Upon motion, the trial court, after hearing and for good cause, may extend the time as the court determines justice requires. If an affidavit is not filed within the period specified in this subsection or as extended by the trial court and the defendant against whom an affidavit should have been filed alleges, by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading that the plaintiff has failed to file the requisite affidavit, the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim. The filing of a motion to dismiss pursuant to this section shall alter the period for filing an answer to the complaint in accordance with Rule 12(a), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.”¹¹

The use of the language, “contemporaneous filing requirement” contained in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) is significant and must be applicable to S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976) , because the only reference to a contemporaneous filing requirement is found in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976). S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976) makes no reference to a requirement of a contemporaneous filing requirement.

S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) specifically provides an exception to the “contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) for the good faith belief that the applicable statute of limitations will expire within ten (1) days of the date of filing”¹². Significantly, S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) provides the exception to the “contemporaneous filing requirement”, and uses the same choice of word (“contemporaneously”) which is not used in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(B) (1976), but is only found in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). Accordingly, by its specific language and terms, S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) provides the details not provided in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976). One must read S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125

¹¹ Section 15-36-100(C)(1) of the S.C. Code of Laws of 1976, as amended

¹² S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976)

(1976) and S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100 (1976) together to determine the person qualified to provide the affidavit and the contents of the affidavit itself.¹³ The exception by specific reference to contemporaneous filing requirement provides must be a specific reference to the contemporaneous filing requirement set forth in S.C. Code Ann § 15-79-125(A) (1976).

The exception to the contemporaneous filing requirement of an affidavit of an expert witness set forth in S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1) (1976) must have been included at S.C. Code Ann § 15-36-100(C)(1)(1976) to alleviate the hardship, in the interests of justice, when a party injured by the professional negligence of others is not able to obtain the required Affidavit which professionals in the same profession are often reluctant to provide, before the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, as is the case at hand.

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