STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No. 2013-CP10-00090
Ct. App. No. 2013-001682

Arthur Peter Rowe,

Appellant,

v.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his Statement of the Issues on Appeal, the Plaintiff Husband asserts that the Trial Court erred in granting the Defendants' motions to dismiss both his Wife's Notice of Intent to File Suit and his loss of consortium action. However, throughout his argument, he argues only about the dismissal of his Wife's Notice, an issue which is raised separately in his Wife's appeal. In the absence of any substantive argument challenging the dismissal of his action, the Trial Court's order should be summarily affirmed.

Notwithstanding the Plaintiff Husband's failure to preserve any issue challenging the dismissal of his loss of consortium action, the Defendants submit that the order should be affirmed because the Plaintiff Husband did not file a Notice of Intent to File Suit before filing his Complaint in compliance with § 15-79-125(A), and he filed his Complaint without an expert affidavit as required by §15-36-100.

³ Defendants Wager and McGraw withdrew their motion to dismiss, reserving the right to move for dismissal on the grounds they were not served.

As to the Plaintiff Husband's complaint that the Trial Judge erred in refusing to recuse himself, the Defendants submit that this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Moreover, the substance of the Plaintiff's letter does not present evidence of bias or prejudice to justify recusal. Under all of the circumstances, the Trial Judge properly dealt with the Plaintiff's improper letter by advising all counsel of record regarding the *ex parte* communication and filing the correspondence in the official court record.

ARGUMENT

I. The Plaintiff has not preserved any issues on the merits of the Trial Court's order of dismissal.

Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, provides that the appellant's brief must contain: "A statement of each of the issues presented for review. The statement shall be concise and direct as to each issue, and may be stated in question form. Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court. Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal."

The statement of an issue must be sufficiently clear and specific to allow the Appellate Court to readily comprehend the precise issue. *Solley v. Weaver*, 247 S.C. 129, 146 S.E.2d 164, 165 (1966) ("We have held in many cases that every ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the Court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to 'grope in the dark' to ascertain the precise point at issue. The object of an exception is to present some distinct principle or question of law which the appellant claims to have been violated by the Court in the trial of the case from which the appeal is taken, and to present it in such form that it may be properly reviewed.").

When a claim is not supported by appropriate argument within the body of the brief, it is deemed abandoned. *Crawford v. Cent. Mortgage Co.*, 404 S.C. 39, 744 S.E.2d 538, 541 (2013); *Glasscock Inc., v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct.App.2001); *see also Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard*, 400 S.C. 246, 734 S.E.2d 161, 164 (2012) (citing *In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (holding an issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory)); *State v. Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 265, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 n. 5 (2003) (finding a *pro se* litigant has full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law).

In his Statement of the Issues on Appeal, the Plaintiff Husband asserts that:

A. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Defendants' Motions To Dismiss The Appellant's Wife's Notice Of Intent To File Suit On Basis That Plaintiff Failed To Contemporaneously File An Affidavit Of An Expert Witness, And The Dismissal Of The Appellant's Action For Loss Of Consortium.

B. The Trial Court Erred In In Granting Defendants' Motions To Dismiss The Appellant's Wife's Notice Of Intent To File Suit Due To The Failure To Apply The Exception To Contemporaneous Filing Of The Affidavit Of An Expert Witness Under Section 15-36-100(C)(1) Of The South Carolina Code Laws Of 1976, As Amended.

While the Husband does make a cursory mention of the dismissal of his action for loss of consortium, throughout his arguments he argues only about the dismissal of his Wife's Notice, an issue which is raised separately in his Wife's appeal. In the absence of any substantive argument challenging the dismissal of his action, any issues should be deemed abandoned, and the Trial Court's order should be summarily affirmed.

II. The Trial Court properly dismissed the Plaintiff Husband's loss of consortium claim because he did not file a Notice of Intent to File Suit before filing his Complaint in compliance with S.C. Code § 15-79-125(A).

Section 5, 2005 S.C. Acts 32, as codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125, provides, in pertinent part that:

(A) Prior to filing or initiating a civil action alleging injury or death as a result of medical malpractice, the plaintiff shall contemporaneously file a Notice of Intent to File Suit and an affidavit of an expert witness, subject to the affidavit requirements established in Section 15-36-100, in a county in which venue would be proper for filing or initiating the civil action.

The Plaintiff Husband acknowledges that § 15-79-125(A) provides requisites that must be met before a plaintiff can file a lawsuit for professional medical malpractice. [Brief, p. 9.] However, he offers no explanation or argument as to why this requirement does not apply to his loss of consortium action.

While the Plaintiff Husband's loss of consortium claim is an independent action, he still must prove the Defendants' liability for medical malpractice. *Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd. P'ship*, 334 S.C. 96, 119, 512 S.E.2d 510, 522 (Ct. App. 1998). Accordingly, he was required to comply with the provisions of § 15-79-125(A). It is undisputable that he did not file a Notice of Intent in compliance with § 15-79-125(A), and therefore, the Trial Court properly dismissed his loss of consortium action.

III. The Trial Court properly dismissed the Plaintiff Husband's loss of consortium claim because he filed his Complaint without an expert affidavit as required by §15-36-100.

Apart from the Plaintiff Husband's failure to comply with § 15-79-125(A), the Plaintiff also failed to contemporaneously file an expert affidavit with his Complaint as required by §15-36-100, which provides in pertinent part:

(B) Except as provided in Section 15-79-125, in an action for damages alleging professional negligence against a professional licensed by or

registered with the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G) or against any licensed health care facility alleged to be liable based upon the action or inaction of a health care professional licensed by the State of South Carolina and listed in subsection (G), the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit.

(C)(1) The contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) does not apply to any case in which the period of limitation will expire, or there is a good faith basis to believe it will expire on a claim stated in the complaint, within ten days of the date of filing and, because of the time constraints, the plaintiff alleges that an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared. In such a case, the plaintiff has forty-five days after the filing of the complaint to supplement the pleadings with the affidavit. Upon motion, the trial court, after hearing and for good cause, may extend the time as the court determines justice requires. If an affidavit is not filed within the period specified in this subsection or as extended by the trial court and the defendant against whom an affidavit should have been filed alleges, by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading that the plaintiff has failed to file the requisite affidavit, the complaint is subject to dismissal for failure to state a claim. The filing of a motion to dismiss pursuant to this section, shall alter the period for filing an answer to the complaint in accordance with Rule 12(a), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Plaintiff's Complaint is an action for damages based on professional negligence, and all of the Defendants are professional health care providers. Accordingly, Plaintiff was required to comply with §15-36-100 in filing his Complaint.

The Plaintiff attempted to invoke the exception in §15-36-100(C)(1) in his Complaint:

54. That the Plaintiff is informed and believes that the applicable statute of limitations on one or more claims alleged in this Complaint will expire within ten (10) days of the date of the filing of this Complaint, and that due to time constraints, an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared, and that Section 15-36-100(C)(1) of the South Carolina Code of Laws of 1976, as amended ... is applicable to enable the Plaintiffs Wife to supplement the pleadings with the required affidavit. [ROA 32.]

However, the exception – or perhaps more properly – the extension of time in 15-36-100(C)(1) still required that the Plaintiff supplement his Complaint with a proper expert affidavit within 45 days. The Complaint was filed on January 7, 2013, and as of the hearing date on May 31, 2013, the Plaintiff had not submitted any expert affidavit.

The reality of Plaintiff's situation, as revealed by his Wife who spoke for them both at the hearing, is that she could not get an affidavit: "I tried to get an affidavit of merit and I tried to get a medical expert and I was unable to do that." [ROA 126; Tr. 12:12-14.] She complained that it was too expensive: "[T]he Legislature has established a law that makes it almost impossible for a regular citizen to make a medical malpractice case regardless of their injuries, because of the twenty to thirty thousand dollar payout that has to go to pay an expert witness." [ROA 124; Tr. 10:14-20.] However, § 15-36-100(C)(1) simply does not provide for any exception for a plaintiff's financial limitations in securing an expert affidavit. And, ultimately, if the Plaintiff could not find an expert to offer an opinion of even one negligent act or omission by any of these Defendants, the statute operates to provide for prompt dismissal of the Complaint for failure to state a claim. Accordingly, the Trial Court properly dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint for failure to timely submit an expert affidavit within the provisions of § 15-36-100(C)(1).⁴

⁴Plaintiff attempted to argue that the common knowledge exception of § 15-36-100(C)(2) applied and he did not need an affidavit as to his claims against the Defendant MUSC Student, Steven Heath Cobb. [ROA 33, Complaint ¶ 55; ROA 126, Tr. 12.] The Trial Court did not address this argument in the Order, although at the hearing, he stated "I don't think that it's going to be common knowledge, from what I've read." [ROA 126; Tr. 12:4-11.] The Plaintiff did not file any motion for reconsideration, and does not raise any issue or even mention §15-36-100(C)(2) in his argument. *See Browder v. Browder*, 382 S.C. 512, 675 S.E.2d 820, 826 (Ct. App. 2009) (issue not preserved for appellate review where it was not ruled upon by the trial court and no Rule 59(e) motion was made); *see also* The discussion and cases cited above in Argument I on error preservation.

IV. The Trial Judge properly exercised his discretion in dealing with the Plaintiff's informal request for him to recuse himself.

As a threshold matter, the Defendants maintain that the Plaintiff has not preserved any issue related to Trial Court's handling of the recusal issue. First, the Plaintiff did not properly file a motion for recusal, but attempted an inappropriate *ex parte* communication with the Trial Court through a letter directly to his law clerk as "Personal and Confidential." Second, the Plaintiff did not raise any objection to Judge Dennis presiding when she appeared at the hearing on May 31st. See Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCF (motion shall be in writing or made in open court); see also *Hundley v. Rite Aid of South Carolina Inc.*, 339 S.C. 285, 306, 529 S.E.2d 45, 57 (Ct.App.2000) (finding motions must be made on the record to be preserved for review by an appellate court)). Third, if the letter could be considered a proper motion, the Trial Court did not make any ruling on it and the Plaintiff did not file any Rule 59(e) motion. See footnote 4, *supra*. Ultimately, however, the Plaintiff's letter did not show any evidence of bias or prejudice to disqualify the Trial Judge.

A presiding judge should disqualify himself if his impartiality might reasonably be questioned where he has a personal bias or prejudice against a party. *Murphy v. Murphy*, 319 S.C. 324, 461 S.E.2d 39, 42 (1995). The party seeking recusal must show some evidence of bias or prejudice that stems from an extrajudicial source and results in decisions based on information other than what the judge learned from his participation in the case. *Roper v. Dynamique Concepts, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 131, 447 S.E.2d 218, 223 (Ct.App.1994). A judge's failure to disqualify himself will not be reversed on appeal in

the absence of any such evidence of judicial prejudice. *Ellis v. Procter & Gamble Dist. Co.*, 315 S.C. 283, 433 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1993).

The Plaintiff's Wife asserted in her letter that Judge Dennis was prejudiced against her because he presided in an action she brought against her church in 2007. [ROA 151-52. Referencing C/A No. 2007-CP-10-243]. More specifically, she alleged that her attorney in that action had informed her that Judge Dennis had sua sponte issued a Protective Order sealing the Church's records produced in discovery. However, she goes on to allege that the Clerk's Office records show that the Protective Order was, in fact, a consent order signed by Judge Young at the end of the case. Thus, the letter, on its face, did not state any plausible grounds for Judge Dennis to recuse himself. *See Payne v. Holiday Towers, Inc.*, 283 S.C. 210, 321 S.E.2d 179, 183 (Ct. App. 1984) (recusal not required where party received adverse ruling from a judge in a prior proceeding).

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiff Husband filed this loss of consortium action founded on allegations of medical malpractice without first filing a Notice of Intent to File Suit as required by §15-79-125(A), and without timely filing an expert affidavit as required by §15-36-100. Accordingly, the Trial Court's dismissal of the Complaint for failure to state a claim should be affirmed.